
From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting 
officer or from Paul Radcliffe, Scrutiny and Member Services Manager on 0161 342 2199 or by 
email paul.radcliffe@tameside.gov.uk with apologies or requests for futher information, to whom 
any apologies for absence should be notified.

VOICE OF THE CHILD OVERVIEW PANEL

Day: Wednesday
Date: 14 February 2018
Time: 6.00 pm
Place: Lesser Hall 1 - Dukinfield Town Hall

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page 
No

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2.  MINUTES 1 - 2

To approve as a correct record, the Minutes of the proceedings of the Voice of 
the Child Overview Panel held on 13 December 2017.

3.  OFSTED MONITORING VISIT 3 - 8

The Panel to receive an update from James Thomas, Director of Children’s 
Services, relating to the Ofsted monitoring visit undertaken on 10 and 11 
January 2018.

4.  ACTIONS IDENTIFIED 

The Chair to update members on findings from recent meetings which have 
been used to identify and inform a number of required actions for Children’s 
Services.

5.  PROGRESS UPDATE 

The Panel to meet Sara Scholey, Head of Service; and Sheena Wooding, 
Head of Service, Children’s Services, to receive an update on planned work to 
deliver the agreed actions.

6.  DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

To note that the next meeting of the Voice of the Child Overview Panel will 
take place on Wednesday 11 April 2018.

7.  URGENT ITEMS 

To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with 
as a matter of urgency.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



Voice of the Child Overview Panel
13 December 2017

Commenced: 6.00pm

Terminated:  6.30pm

Present: Councillors T Smith (Chair), R Welsh

Apologies for absence: Councillors J Lane, Pearce, Peet, M Smith

The Chair opened the minutes and received apologies.

14. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting of the Voice of the Child Overview Panel held on 1 November 
2017 were approved as a correct record.

15. TERMS OF REFERENCE

Members noted a change to the Terms of Reference for the Panel, with detail to confirm that 
the Voice of the Child Overview Panel meet in public.

Resolved: That amendment to the Terms of Reference is noted by the Panel.

16. MEETING WITH SOCIAL WORKERS

The Chair discussed the recent meeting with Tameside Social Workers which took place on 30 
November 2017.  The meeting was arranged for members to receive first-hand information 
and examples of the approach taken and methods used to ensure the experiences and views 
of children are sought, recorded and used to inform future practice.

The group met with Social Workers from a range of services including the Hub, Duty and 
Safeguarding teams.  Feedback was also sought from a Social Worker who predominantly 
works with children presenting a physical and/or cognitive disability.

The meeting proved extremely useful with information and practical examples shared on the 
methods used to seek and actively record the voice of the child, from initial contact and 
assessment to more complex and intense work aimed to ensure that the views of children form 
part of the way support is delivered.  This also included the way experiences are captured with 
younger infants through play and the use of more innovative tools and methods to ensure the 
views of children with a learning disability are captured effectively.

Resolved: That a range of findings from the meeting are used to inform the Panel’s future 
activity and identified actions. 

17. CORPORATE PARENTS

The Policy Manager presented a paper which detailed statutory guidance and responsibilities 
of corporate parenting and wider regulation. With looked after children among the most 
vulnerable in our communities it is widely acknowledged that a collective response in needed 
in order to reduce gaps.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



When a child enters the local authority care system, the tasks (including general safeguarding) 
which would ordinarily be the responsibility of their parents now becomes the responsibility of 
everyone at the Council and beyond.  This encompasses many individuals and organisations 
such as officers of the Council, elected members, school staff and partner agencies.

Individuals and agencies have a responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare and 
wellbeing of children looked after and children leaving the care system.  There is a legal and 
moral obligation to ensure the right conditions and supports are in place to allow them to 
thrive.  This is a priority that reaches far beyond the staff working in Children’s Services.

Legislation including the Children and Social Work Act 2017, provides a number of corporate 
parenting principles for local authorities in England.  Part of the guidance includes the need to 
encourage and take account of the views, wishes and feelings of children and young people.

Members commented on the need to have clear understanding and awareness of the issues 
affecting children looked after and care leavers in the authority area, and those placed at a 
distance.  With a further need to communicate with children through the appropriate channels 
and to constructively challenge opportunities and outcomes for children looked after.

Resolved: That the paper be noted and where necessary any findings of the Panel are shared 
with the Council’s Corporate Parenting Group to take forward.

18. NEXT STEPS

The Chair confirmed that next step is for all recent activity and findings of the Panel to be 
reported in a way which details voice of the child issues identified within the Ofsted inspection 
and subsequent monitoring visits.  The paper will need to conclude findings from all meetings 
with 2BeUs and Social Workers and to devise a number of key actions to be shared with 
Children’s Services. Actions to include:
 To increase engagement and promotion of 2BeUS
 To develop a webpage/website for 2BeUS
 To improve the Council’s future work offer for looked after children
 To develop a contact card for looked after children to access support and guidance 

Resolved: That a summary paper is drafted with a list of key themes from the Panel’s recent 
activity and the actions to be taken forward with Children’s Services.

19. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

To note that the next meeting of the Voice of the Child Overview Panel will take place on 
Wednesday 14 February 2018.

20. URGENT ITEMS

The Chair reported that there were no urgent items for consideration at this meeting.
CHAIR

Page 2



 

Ofsted is proud to use recycled paper 

2 February 2018 
 

James Thomas 

Tameside Borough Council 

Wellington Road 

Ashton-under-Lyne 

Tameside 

OL6 6DL 

 

Dear James, 

Monitoring visit of Tameside Borough Council children’s services 

This letter summarises the findings of the monitoring visit undertaken on 10 and 11 

January 2018. The visit was the fourth monitoring visit since the local authority was 

judged inadequate in December 2016. The inspectors were Paula Thomson-Jones 

HMI, Shabana Abasi HMI and Majella Tallack, Ofsted inspector. 

There is still considerable work to do to improve the quality of practice delivered to 

children in need of help and protection. The local authority has taken action to 

address the previously slow pace of improvement, with some early signs of success. 

However, these changes have not yet had a sufficient impact on the service that 

children receive. 

Areas covered by the visit 

This visit examined the work done with children in need of help and protection, with 

a focus on arrangements in the safeguarding duty teams. The inspection made 

specific recommendations for improvements to be made in the service provided for 

children in need of help and protection. This monitoring visit focused on four of 

these: 

 Ensure that all areas of service have staff with a suitable level of 

qualification and experience for the role that they are required to 

undertake and that their workloads are manageable.  

 Ensure that action taken by social workers is compliant with statutory 

guidance and that the application of thresholds in casework with children 

and families is appropriate. 

 Ensure that the quality assurance of work by senior and middle managers 

routinely considers the quality of managerial decision making and the 

application of thresholds at all stages of the child’s involvement with the 

local authority, including contacts within the public service hub. 

Aviation House 
125 Kingsway 
London  WC2B 6SE 

 

T 0300 123 1231 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
www.ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 

 Ensure that staff receive high-quality supervision and managerial oversight 

at a frequency that reflects their skills and levels of experience. 

The visit considered different types of evidence, including electronic case records, 

supervision files and notes, observation, and discussion with social workers, 

managers and senior leaders. 

Overview 

The local authority has recognised the need to increase the pace of improvement. A 

decision to separate the roles and responsibilities of the director of children's services 

(DCS) and the director of adult services (DAS) in September 2017 led to the creation 

of a new dedicated DCS post. An experienced interim DCS was appointed in October 

2017. 

Since their appointment, the DCS has led work to re-evaluate the current position 

and accelerate improvement. The local authority now has an accurate self-

assessment. It demonstrates a good understanding of the scale of change required 

in systems, culture and practice. Recent reports on audit work accurately reflect the 

quality of practice. The revised improvement plan shows more focus on improving 

outcomes for children. There has been an increase in the number of social work 

posts. Although this work has created a greater potential for improvement, the 

impact of this is not yet evident in the quality of social work practice. 

During this visit, inspectors saw some improvement in areas of compliance. As on 

previous monitoring visits, inspectors saw a few examples of good practice, but these 

were exceptions, and were the result of work done by individual practitioners rather 

than any systemic improvement. There was evidence of some improvement in 

management oversight of casework, and managers demonstrated a greater 

understanding of the practice improvements required. 

Findings and evaluation of progress 

Referrals for children progress in a timely way. Records evidence management 

oversight and a rationale for decision-making. However, the quality of information 

gathered in order to inform these decisions is often poor. While most cases seen had 

information from schools, there was often an absence of information from other key 

agencies, such as health services and the police. This means that children’s and 

parents’ needs are not fully understood. 

Children at risk of harm are identified and immediate action is taken to keep them 

safe. Strategy discussions take place, and are recorded on children’s files. This is an 

improvement compared to work seen during the inspection. However, the 

discussions held are usually between social care and the police, and few of them 

involve other agencies. In addition, agencies do not routinely contribute by sharing 

information, which leads to ineffective evaluation of risk. The majority of cases seen 

during this visit demonstrated a lack of information from health services and the 

Page 4



 

 

 

police. This means that decisions about the levels of risk to children are being made 

without the benefit of full and accurate information. 

Decisions to undertake child protection investigations are now recorded and action is 

taken to keep children safe. The quality of this work is hampered by poor analysis 

and planning, which sometimes prevent investigations from being carried out 

effectively. In some cases seen, social workers or the police undertook single-agency 

action before strategy discussions had taken place. In others, police representatives 

reported that capacity issues prevented them from being able to undertake joint 

investigations. In the vast majority of cases seen, information about the health needs 

of families was not obtained during the period of investigation, leading to incomplete 

evaluation of the presenting risks. 

Assessments are completed in a timely way for all children, but there has not been a 

consistent improvement in the quality of practice. A small number of examples seen 

were thorough and well written, and contained good analysis that led to effective 

planning. However, the vast majority of assessments seen by inspectors only focused 

on the single presenting issue, and had significant gaps in their evaluation of history. 

As a result, the analysis of risk and the analysis of parenting capacity continues to be 

weak. This leads to decision-making and planning that are based on an incomplete 

evaluation of risks and needs. Children do not have all of their needs identified, and 

are not always receiving the right help. 

The lack of effective information gathering at all stages of a child’s journey means 

that the local authority cannot be sure that thresholds for decision-making are 

applied consistently or appropriately. As a result, children may not be getting the 

right support at the right time. 

Child in need and child protection plans are now in place for most children, and 

regular reviews are taking place. Written plans are not child focused enough, and do 

not have clear outcomes, actions and timescales. As a result, it is difficult for parents 

and professionals to understand what change is required or how progress is 

measured. 

Case recording does not reflect the work that is undertaken in order to help children. 

It is difficult to understand their experiences from the written records. This is a more 

significant deficit for those children who experience changes of social worker. Weak 

case recording makes it hard for new workers to understand what is needed, and to 

provide a consistent service for the families. In a small number of cases, social 

workers had compiled good chronologies, but in most cases these were lacking, and 

were not used as tools for supporting the understanding of children’s experiences. 

All children’s cases reviewed during the visit showed some improvement in children 

being seen and spoken to as part of casework. Children are spoken to, and what 

they say is often recorded, but the value of this varies, depending on the quality of 

the work undertaken. In a small number of stronger cases, workers had undertaken 

direct work, had understood and evaluated wishes and feelings, and had used this to 

Page 5



 

 

 

inform the plans and their work with the families. However, in the majority of work 

seen, effective direct work was not undertaken, and assessments and plans were not 

sufficiently child focused. 

Children’s records seen during this visit showed improvement in the managers’ 

oversight of casework. There is regular case discussion recorded on the majority of 

children’s files, showing that managers check compliance with statutory 

requirements. Records do not yet evidence reflective discussion or analysis. There is 

still not enough challenge from managers regarding the quality of practice. 

Supervision records show some improvement in the frequency and quality of 

supervision, but there remains further work to do in order to ensure that this is 

consistent for all staff. 

Managers and social workers demonstrate commitment to, and enthusiasm for, their 

work, and feel more optimistic about progress because of recent developments. 

Workers welcome the visibility of new senior leaders, and are positive about the new 

improvement plan. They feel it offers clearer direction and an increased focus on 

children. 

Although caseloads remain high in some teams, all have been  reduced since the last 

monitoring visit. This means that workloads that are more manageable for many 

social workers. The permanent workforce is stabilising, with little movement, which is 

an improvement from previous monitoring visits. However, there continues to be a 

reliance on high numbers of agency staff in some teams. The high level of turnover 

of agency staff continues to present a risk to practice improvement. 

The work undertaken to support and develop newly qualified social workers is 

starting to be more effective. A consultant social worker is ensuring that there are 

good levels of support and supervision. Workers in their first year of practice who 

were seen on this visit had protected caseloads, and were receiving support to 

enable them to learn and develop. 

Work has started with partner agencies to ensure that their contribution to 

safeguarding practice results in children receiving a good-quality service. Some 

progress has been made, and there are increased  health and police resources at the 

safeguarding hub. 

The weaknesses in practice identified by inspectors during this visit are known to the 

local authority. Since the last monitoring visit in September 2017, the local authority 

has produced two thematic audit reports that accurately evaluate practice. This 

included a thematic audit of child protection work, where the findings were similar to 

those of the inspectors on this monitoring visit. This means that the improvement 

plan is now based on a more accurate understanding of the work required. This 

provides a sound basis to learn from and for future practice improvement. 

The local authority’s self-assessment also includes an accurate understanding of the 

wider work needed to support improvement. This includes improvements in the 

Page 6



 

 

 

recruitment and retention of social workers, and strengthening the senior leadership 

team. An experienced interim assistant executive director is now in post, and an 

additional head of service post has been established to provide greater capacity. 

I am copying this letter to the Department for Education. This letter will be published 

on the Ofsted website. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Paula Thomson-Jones 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 OFSTED MONITORING VISIT

